
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Wendy Jackson <wendy@iisd.org>, Wagaki Mwangi <wagaki@iisd.org>, Prisna
Nuengsigkapian <prisna@iisd.org>, Alison Ormsby <alison@iisd.org> and Andrey Vavilov, Ph.D. <andrey@iisd.org>. The Digital Editors are Franz Dejon
<franz@iisd.org> and Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston
James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>.
The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID),
the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development - DFID), the European
Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment  - BMU,  and the
German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2002 is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and
Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and
Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute
for Global Environmental Strategies – IGES). Special funding for coverage of WSSD is provided by the Government of Sweden. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail
at <enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD
and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For
permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution
lists and can be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. Satellite image provided by The Living Earth, Inc. For information on the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin or to arrange coverage of a meeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director, IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org> or call to +1-212-644-0217
or 0812 36 60489 in Bali.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 22 No. 33 Thursday, 30 May 2002

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

PrepCom IV
#4

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/2002/pc4/

ENB 10th Anniversary 1992-2002

WSSD PREPCOM IV HIGHLIGHTS: 
WEDNESDAY, 29 MAY 2002

Delegates met in a morning Plenary to hear the outcomes of the 
Multi-Stakeholder Dialogues and a statement by Prince Willem 
Alexander of Orange (the Netherlands). Working Group I met in 
morning, afternoon and evening sessions to consider agriculture 
and desertification. Working Group II met in the afternoon and 
evening to consider health and sustainable development. Working 
Group III met in morning, afternoon and evening sessions to 
consider sustainable development governance. The contact group 
on energy met in the afternoon and evening to finalize text to 
forward to the Working Group. The contact group on oceans 
convened briefly in the afternoon and the contact groups on Africa 
and finance met in the evening, the latter for the first time.

Editor’s Note: Coverage of the meetings ended at 6:00 pm.

PLENARY
Chair Salim invited the Chairs of the Multi-Stakeholder 

Dialogues (MSDs) to present their report.
DISCUSSION GROUP I: Richard Ballhorn (Canada) and 

Kiyotaka Akasaka (Japan) presented the highlights of the MSD 
sessions, with Ballhorn noting that the Group first focused on prin-
ciples and elements of capacity building, and Akasaka reporting 
that the dialogue subsequently addressed possible institutions, 
means and mechanisms to enhance capacity building. Major 
Groups then provided reports, in which:  WOMEN called for a 
binding UN convention on UN accountability; YOUTH proposed 
a programme advisory council to monitor capacity building initia-
tives, and a monitoring and evaluation mechanism for WSSD 
implementation; INDIGENOUS PEOPLES called for interna-
tional instruments that recognize their rights; NGOs called for the 
promotion of national legal frameworks for NGO operations; 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES called for a strong legal framework; 
TRADE UNIONS urged strengthened governance and corporate 
accountability; the SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNOLOGICAL 
COMMUNITY emphasized human resource development, institu-
tional capacity and links between science and technology policies; 
FARMERS stressed, inter alia, land and agricultural practice 
rights, the precautionary approach, and the role of governments; 
and BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY emphasized good governance.

NORWAY highlighted contributions from Major Groups, 
notably, the need for: corporate accountability and regulation; 
rights-based and precautionary approaches; equity; and gendered 
governance. The EU noted the importance of education and good 
governance.

DISCUSSION GROUP II: Vice-Chairs Jan Kára (Czech 
Republic) and Diane Quarless (Jamaica) summarized discussions 
on principles and modalities from Tuesday’s MSDs, noting the 
widespread interest in, though not support for, Type 2 outcomes. 

WOMEN outlined their principles for partnerships, while 
YOUTH stressed implementing existing conventions. Empha-
sizing that they considered the principles summarized as prerequi-
sites for partnerships, YOUTH, supported by FARMERS and 
TRADE UNIONS, expressed their rejection of self-reporting. 
INDIGENOUS PEOPLES, together with YOUTH, stressed self-
determination, and supported a binding convention on corporate 
accountability. NGOs elaborated on their vote of no confidence in 
Type 2 outcomes, citing lack of government commitment to princi-
ples such as clear targets, enforceable mechanisms, and account-
ability, adding that if governments were abdicating responsibility, 
the least NGOs could do was maintain integrity. LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES highlighted their role and experience in action 
and implementation. TRADE UNIONS stressed external moni-
toring, and the “right to say no.” BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY 
supported self-monitoring, expressing disappointment in the lack 
of support by other Major Groups. The SCIENTIFIC AND TECH-
NOLOGICAL COMMUNITY reiterated their role as service 
providers, while FARMERS restated their interest in partnerships 
on renewable energy and biotechnology. 

FUTURE PRIORITIES: Chair Salim then invited Major 
Groups to provide their views on future priorities, which could 
constitute input to the political declaration.

FARMERS emphasized strengthening public services and 
establishing a legal framework for farmers’ organizations. The 
SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNOLOGICAL COMMUNITY recom-
mended, inter alia, establishing science institutions at all levels 
and creating a scientific and development advisory council to the 
CSD. BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY stressed the need for a part-
nership framework, a clear WSSD Type 1 outcome with 
programmes and commitments, and a body to synthesize the part-
nerships’ results. TRADE UNIONS called for: a recommitment to 
Agenda 21 and the Rio Declaration; references to key issues they 
raised in the MSDs; a focus on implementation; and collaboration 
with, among others, UNEP and the International Labour Organiza-
tion (ILO). LOCAL AUTHORITIES stressed good governance, 
capacity building, strengthened government capacity, decentrali-
zation and sufficient financial resources. Stressing debt cancella-
tion and ecological debt and reparations, NGOs noted a lack of 
political will evidenced from: the lack of commitment to targets, in 
contrast to the World Trade Organization and debt repayment 
schedules; non-acknowledgement that the Rio North-South part-
nership is based on common but differentiated responsibilities; and 
the struggle to retain the basic vision of Rio. 



Thursday, 30 May 2002  Vol. 22 No. 33 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

INDIGENOUS PEOPLES called on the WSSD to initiate an 
assessment of protection of traditional knowledge and to convene a 
world conference on Indigenous Peoples. YOUTH stressed elimi-
nation of corruption, poverty eradication through recognition of the 
growing income gap and, with WOMEN, emphasized peace as a 
precondition for sustainable development. WOMEN underscored 
that sustainable development should be the overarching framework 
for political and economic commitments and, with YOUTH, 
lamented that Major Groups’ concerns were not being heard.

SAUDI ARABIA stated that poverty alleviation is key to 
sustainable development. The ILO expressed its support for 
strengthening MSDs within the WSSD process, while the 
ENERGY COALITION announced their work on a new “chapter 
41” to Agenda 21 on renewables. A representative of the WSSD 
CIVIL SOCIETY SECRETARIAT said that anticipated financing 
to host civil society in Johannesburg has not materialized, and 
called for support from the international community. Closing the 
session, Chair Salim expressed hope that MSDs would contribute 
to discussions in the Working Groups. 

Chair Salim then introduced Prince Willem Alexander of 
Orange (the Netherlands), who presented key recommendations 
and actions from his report – No Water No Future – prepared for the 
UN Secretary-General’s panel on water.

WORKING GROUP 1
This Working Group was co-chaired by Maria Viotti (Brazil) 

and Kiyotaka Akasaka (Japan).
PROTECTING AND MANAGING THE NATURAL 

RESOURCE BASE OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL DEVEL-
OPMENT: Agriculture: Delegates accepted NEW ZEALAND’s 
text on enhancing the role of women at all levels and in all aspects 
of rural development, agriculture, nutrition and food security. 
JAPAN, opposed by the G-77/CHINA, AUSTRALIA and NEW 
ZEALAND, proposed text realizing the various roles of agricul-
ture, which was bracketed. The US, with JAPAN, proposed dele-
tion of reference to “the right to food as stated in article 11 of the 
International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights,” 
and proposed alternative text recognizing the commitment of States 
to realize the right to be free from hunger, which remains brack-
eted. NORWAY, opposed by the US and the G-77/CHINA, 
proposed, and subsequently withdrew, text calling for the develop-
ment of a voluntary code of conduct as a means to promote food 
security.

The EU, with the G-77/CHINA and CANADA, called for refer-
ence to “sustainable” rather than “optimal” use of renewable 
resources, which was adopted. Delegates accepted language 
proposed by the G-77/CHINA to support the efforts of developing 
countries to protect oases from silt, land degradation and increasing 
salinity. 

Delegates did not agree on the placement of NEW ZEALAND-
proposed text from the World Food Summit Roma Declaration to 
“fully embrace population concerns into sustainable development 
strategies, plans and decision making, including factors affecting 
migration, and devise appropriate population policies, programmes 
and family planning services.” Text on land tenure, with 
ROMANIA’s added reference to countries with economies in tran-
sition, was accepted.

On declining public sector finance for sustainable agriculture, 
delegates accepted an EU proposal to support the promotion of 
private sector investment, as well as NORWAY’s suggestion to 
disseminate research results to farming communities.

On enhancing market access, the reference to “value added” 
agricultural products was bracketed, pending consultations due to 
lack of clarity for SWITZERLAND and the EU on whether the 
terms include genetically modified organisms. “Mental brackets” 
were retained on proposals by the REPUBLIC OF KOREA to 

replace the text on the phase-out of export subsidies through market 
access with text from paragraph 13 of the Doha Ministerial Decla-
ration, and by CANADA promoting the conservation and sustain-
able use and management of traditional indigenous agricultural 
systems and strengthening indigenous models of agricultural 
production, pending consultations with, inter alia, trade experts 
and Working Group II. 

Delegates accepted new proposals by: the G-77/CHINA, and 
amended by the EU, on promoting programmes for environmen-
tally sound, effective and efficient use of soil fertility improvement, 
and on agricultural pest control; NORWAY, inviting countries that 
have not done so to ratify the International Treaty on Plant Genetic 
Resources for Food and Agriculture; and the G-77/CHINA to 
strengthen and improve coordination of existing initiatives to 
enhance sustainable agricultural production and food security.

Desertification: The chapeau on strengthening the UN 
Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) was accepted 
after minor amendments were made to the G-77/CHINA’s proposal 
“to address causes of desertification and land degradation to restore 
land.” Text on encouraging synergies between the UN Framework 
Convention on Climate Change, the Convention on Biological 
Diversity and the UNCCD was debated, with the EU adding the 
UN Forum on Forests, SWITZERLAND suggesting more action-
oriented text promoting harmonized approaches between different 
agencies, and BRAZIL preferring to retain the Chair’s text.

WORKING GROUP II
The Working Group, co-chaired by Richard Ballhorn (Canada) 

and Ihab Gamaleldin (Egypt), met in the afternoon to discuss a 
revised text on health and sustainable development, issued on 
Sunday, 26 May. 

HEALTH AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: Dele-
gates quickly agreed to paragraphs on: reduction of maternal, infant 
and child mortality rates; assistance to HIV/AIDS orphans; 
strengthening of ILO and World Health Organization programmes 
to reduce occupational death, injuries and illnesses; provision of 
affordable energy to rural communities; and protection of the 
health of workers. 

After extensive debate, delegates accepted paragraphs on 
measures to: launch, as appropriate, international capacity-building 
initiatives that assess health and environment linkages; improve 
availability and access for all to sufficient, safe, culturally accept-
able and nutritionally adequate food; develop or strengthen, as 
applicable, programmes to address non-communicable diseases; 
and mobilize adequate public, and encourage private, financial 
resources for research and development on diseases of the poor.

Consensus was not reached on numerous references to health 
care services, with the US preferring deletion of “services” and 
others supporting health care “and” services. No headway was 
made on text regarding: “development” of programmes to promote 
health literacy “by 2010”; taking measures “consistent with reports 
of UN conferences and summits”; fulfilling commitments to 
support the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; 
and technology transfer taking into account “women’s concerns.”

The US called for bracketing paragraphs on traditional medi-
cine and protection of traditional knowledge, and on implementa-
tion of the WTO Agreement on Trade-related Aspects of 
Intellectual Property Rights.

WORKING GROUP III
This Working Group, under the chairmanship of Lars-Göran 

Engfeldt (Sweden) and Ositadinma Anaedu (Nigeria), negotiated 
the Vice-Chairs’ paper circulated on 27 May on Institutional 
Frameworks for Sustainable Development. The EU and JAPAN 
bracketed text on GEF financing of domestic sustainable develop-
ment projects. The G-77/CHINA bracketed paragraphs on: inte-



Vol. 22 No. 33 Page 3 Thursday, 30 May 2002
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

grating the social dimension in sustainable development, the 
outcomes of the Third Global Ministerial Environment Forum/
Seventh Special Session of the UNEP Governing Council; and a 
US suggestion on improving cooperation among UN bodies in the 
field of environment, explaining that the text shows an imbalance 
between the social and environmental pillars and the economic 
pillar of sustainable development. The US, with the RUSSIAN 
FEDERATION and opposed by the EU, preferred deleting refer-
ence to universal membership of the UNEP Governing Council. 
There was debate over whether the final decision on the issue 
should be deferred to the UN General Assembly. The discussion on 
a reference to a UN convention against corruption, currently being 
elaborated, was inconclusive. Different versions of text were 
proposed on transnational corporation accountability, with the US 
insisting on a short reference to “promoting corporate responsi-
bility,” and SWITZERLAND suggesting a composite version, 
which was supported by many delegates. The G-77/CHINA 
proposed a new paragraph calling for support to the UNDP 
Capacity 21 programme. 

The G-77/CHINA also proposed text to entrust the UN General 
Assembly with overviewing WSSD outcomes, “in particular, on 
means of implementation.” The EU proposed text calling on: the 
General Assembly to “deepen the understanding of the concept of 
sustainable development”; the UN system to streamline its 
reporting; and the Second Committee to embrace social issues and 
become the “Sustainable Development Committee.” The EU 
suggested a stronger coordinating role for ECOSOC, while the G-
77/CHINA proposed holding high level and coordinating segments 
back-to-back every three years, with themes suggested by the CSD. 
The US objected to ECOSOC monitoring pledges made at the 
Monterrey Conference. 

The need to strengthen the CSD received general support, but 
enhancing its role and focus in reviewing Agenda 21 and the 
outcomes of the WSSD, agreements and other commitments, 
provoked numerous amendments. In the paragraph on scientific 
contributions, the G-77/CHINA proposed replacing “specialist” 
organizations – whose advice may be drawn upon by the CSD – 
with “intergovernmental” organizations. CANADA, supported by 
NORWAY and the REPUBLIC OF KOREA, urged consideration 
of educators’ contribution to sustainable development, but the G-
77/CHINA recalled that educators are not a Major Group. The US 
expressed its preference that the CSD negotiate decisions every 
five years, with the G-77/CHINA insisting on two years, as in the 
Vice-Chairs’ paper. On partnerships, the US introduced four new 
paragraphs on the role of the CSD as a focal point and forum for 
exchange of lessons learned and information, including a website, 
for stakeholders involved in partnerships and for potential partners. 
The G-77/CHINA questioned the need to mention partnerships, so 
as not to prejudge the WSSD outcomes, and bracketed the US 
proposals. The EU suggested deletion of the paragraph on the CSD 
reviewing issues related to financial assistance and technology 
transfer, and references to means of implementation. JAPAN, with 
US support, added amendments on Earth observation data and 
global mapping. The G-77/CHINA stressed the need for the CSD 
to review constraints and reasons for non-implementation of 
previous decisions.

The Chair observed that delegations had invariably reverted to 
their old proposals, thus slowing down the drafting process.

CONTACT GROUPS
ENERGY: The energy contact group continued to disagree 

over the use of targets, with one delegation urging targets that are 
meaningful for all countries, such as cutting energy subsidies by 
50% and reflecting real energy costs. Another delegation proposed 
new text on full disclosure of subsidies and cross-subsidies. Dele-
gations raised the issue of the difference between the terms 

“sustainable energy sources” and “energy for sustainable develop-
ment,” and between “cleaner” or “advanced,” instead of “more 
efficient,” fossil fuel technologies. Use of the formulation “reli-
able, affordable, economically viable, socially acceptable and envi-
ronmentally sound” in references to energy services was agreed. 
Delegations supported the use of CSD-9 language in most of the 
text, and agreed to text on reduction of flaring and venting of gas 
associated with crude oil production, as well as domestic 
programmes for energy efficiency, and efforts to improve the func-
tioning, transparency, and information about energy markets. 
Discussion covered issues including: incorporation of sustainable 
development into energy restructuring programmes; exchange of 
lessons learned; collaboration between existing organizations and 
institutions; and whether the life-cycle approach is an energy issue. 
At the conclusion of the afternoon session, one delegation called 
for language from CSD-9 stating that, “in case some countries 
choose to use nuclear energy technologies for sustainable develop-
ment, absolute priority should be given to safety.” The text was 
bracketed.

OCEANS: Facilitator Guy O’Brien (Australia) adjourned 
Wednesday’s meeting soon after convening it, and urged delegates 
to consult and produce compromise text for discussion on 
Thursday morning. He further stated that he would be reporting on 
progress of the contact group to Chair Salim following the 
Thursday morning session. 

IN THE CORRIDORS
Wednesday’s morning earthquake may have stirred – but not 

shaken – Summit preparations and progress. There is still rumbling 
and grumbling behind the scenes, which might have led to a closed-
door meeting with Desai and UN agency representatives on 
Wednesday afternoon. Since the start of negotiations, several UN 
agencies have expressed frustration at what they view as a delib-
erate attempt to exclude them from substantively contributing to 
the session, with some even suspecting an “invisible hand” at work. 
Among their major concerns is a DESA document on synergy on 
energy – one of the issues UN Secretary-General Kofi Annan iden-
tified as an important issue – that seems to be “secretly doing the 
rounds,” but which most agencies have not seen. It has not escaped 
delegates that, unlike at PrepCom III, Working Group Chairs have 
not invited input from the agencies – with the exception of the ILO 
and WHO, which have been called upon a few times. Some are 
wary that instructions have been given to disregard their offers of 
technical advice. The informal-informal consultations over the 
weekend left some UN agencies feeling further left out of the 
process, as text specifically relating to them was removed from the 
implementation document.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
WORKING GROUPS: Working Groups I, II and III will meet 

from 10:00 am – 1:00 pm, 3:00 – 6:00 pm, and from 8:00 pm – with 
the possibility of all-night sessions – to conclude the first round of 
negotiations on the Revised Chairman’s Text. Working Group I will 
meet in Nusantara, Working Group II will convene in Nusa Indah, 
while Working Group III will meet in the Geneva room.

CONTACT GROUPS: Africa will meet in the Frangipani 
Room at 10:00 am. Oceans will meet at 10:00 am in the Bandung 
Room to discuss compromise text developed on Wednesday, 29 
May. Good governance will meet at 3:00 pm in the Orchid Room. 
Contact groups are expected to report to their respective Working 
Groups to enable the completion of the first round of negotiations. 
Look for revised papers from the contact groups on energy and 
oceans. 



From Strategic Intentions:
"An underlying premise of a knowledge 
network is that the whole is greater 
than the sum of the parts. A significant 
benefit of participating in a knowledge 
network is that each of the parts 
becomes stronger."

Strategic Intentions focuses on the 
International Institute for Sustainable 
Development’s experience in establish-
ing and managing knowledge networks. 
This collection of observations, insights 
and lessons learned, demonstrates the 
true value of the "network advantage" 
in the pursuit of sustainable develop-
ment.

Strategic Intentions is available on line 
at http://www.iisd.org/pdf/2001/
networks_strategic_intentions.pdf.
To purchase a copy in print, contact 
info@iisd.ca.

2002SUMMIT-L
A Peer-to-Peer Announcement List for WSSD

Reaching approximately 15,000 readers by electronic mail, this moder-
ated list provides a mechanism for organizations and governments that 
wish to communicate: 

• Invitations to upcoming side 
events

• Media releases
• Location online of new position or 

discussion papers
• existence of WSSD Web sites

• New Partnerships or match-mak-
ing offers for Partners

• Reports of meetings
• Breaking news
• Information on logistics or Summit 

arrangements

Subscribe to 2002SUMMIT-L by sending a one line message to 
lyris@lists.iisd.ca with the one line of text: subscribe 2002SUMMIT-L

or visit 
http://iisd.ca/scripts/lyris.pl?join=2002summit-l 

http://www.iisd.org/pdf/2001/
http://iisd.ca/scripts/lyris.pl?join=2002summit-l

